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1. Toxic Substances Control Act - PCBs - A distributor who

purchases waste 0il which had been diluted so as to
reduce the concentration of PCBs below 50 ppm, does not
violate the PCB rule, unless he knows or has reason to
know that the 01l had been diluted.

2. Toxic Substances Controil Act - PCBs - Complaint against
distributor of waste 01l dismissed where facts do not
show that oil purchased by the distributor was the same
01l that had been tested six days before the distributor
had made his purchase, and had been found to contain
over 50 ppm PCBs.
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INITIAL DECISIAN

This is a proceeding under the Toxic Substances Control
Act ("TSCA"), Section 16(a), 15 U.S.C. 2615(a), for the
assessment of civil peha1ties for violation of the rule
entitled "Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) Manufacturing,
Processing, Digtribution in Commerce, and Use Prohibitions”
(hereafter "PCB rule"), 40 CFR Part 761.1/ The proceeding was
instituted by a complaint issued on June 1, 1982, charging
that Respondent Finch 0il Company had distributed in commerce
0il containing PCBs in excess of 50'%arts per million (“ppm").
in violation of 40 CFR 761.30(c). A penalty of $20,000 was
requested. ‘Respondent answered and denied the charges and
also put in issue the appropriateness of the amount of the
proposed penalty. A heariné was held in Newark, New Jersey
on November 30, 1982. Following the hearing the parties sub-
mitted briefs on the legal and factual issues. On consider-

ation of the entire record and the submissions of the

parties, the complaint is dismissed. All proposed.findings

1/ TSCA, Section 16(a) provides in pertinent part as follows:

(a) Civil - (1) Any person who violates a provision of
section 15 shall be liable to the United States for a civil
penalty in an amount not to exceed $25,000 for each such
violation. Fach day such a violation continues shall, for
purposes of this subsection, constitute a separate
violation of section 15.

Section 15 of the Act provides in pertinent part, "[i]t shall

be unlawful for any person to - (1) fail or refuse to comply
with . . . (C) any rule promulgated . . . under Section . . .
6 . ." The PCB rule was promulgated under TSCA, Section 6(e),

15 U.S.C. 2605(e).




of fact inconsistent with this decision are rejected.

Findings of Fact
1. Respondent Clarence P. Finch 11 is engaged in the busi-
ness of selling heating fuel 0il to commercial customers. He
began his business, k}own as anch Fuel 0i1 Company, in
1975, and operates out of his home in Kearny, New Jersey.
He ma}ntains and has no fuel o011 storage facilites. Transcript
("Tr.") Y27, 130-31. |
2. Finch purchases the fuel 011 he sells primarily from the
major oil companies., On occasion he also buys waste oil from
other sources whicﬁ he blends with the fuel o0il. Tr. 14, 130.
3. ror several yvears Finch has purchased waste 0il from the
Summit Metal Company of Jersey City, New Jersey. Tr. 153-56.
4. Summit sa]véges scrap metal that it obtains from various
sources but primarily from transformer; and other electrical
equipment. Tr. 108-09.
B« Summit drains waste dielectric oil from transformers and
other electrical equipment it purchases and stores the o0il
in two tanks; one having a capacity of .about 800 gallons and
the other a capacity of about 1,200 gallons. Waste o0il
collected from other sources such as diesel fuel and crankcase
oil from scrapped trucks or motors was also stored in these
tanks. Tr. 110, 112, 124,

6. On April 15, 1981, EPA employees conducted an inspection

of Summit to qetermine compliance with PCB regulations. In




the course of that inspection, samples of waste 0il were
collected from each tank. Samplé 57858 was collected from

the 1,200 gallon capacity tank which at that time contained
ahout 600 gallons of waste o0il. Sample 578359 was collected
froim the SOb gallon tank which contained abdbout 10079311ons

of waste 0oi1. Tr. 8, 11; Government's Exhibits 1, 2.

7. Both samples were taken to the EPA Mu1tidiscip1ina}y
Laboratory in Edison, New Jersey, where they were analy:ed
for the presence of PCBs. Samp]g.57858, was found to contain
PCBs at a level of 140 ppm, and sample 57859 was found to
contain PCBs at a level of 2,400 ppm, Tr. 24-25, 67, 86-87;
Government Exhibits 3-5.

8. On April 21, 1981, Finch purchased 2,600 gallons of waste
oil from Summit. This o0il was pumped from the two waste o0il
storage tanks described above. Summit had added waste oil

to the tanks since April 15, 1981, bringing them to their
estimated 2,000 gallon capacity, and at the time of delivery
to Finch supplemented those 2,000 ga]]ohs by another 600
gallons obtained from transformers, drums or other storage
containers at Summit. Tr. 111, 119, 129.

9. Between April 15, 198] and April 21, 1981, Summit probably

withdrew 50 to 60 gallons from tpe two tanks for use in its

portabie heating equipment and may have given away another 55

gallons or more to others. Tr. 117-120.




Discussion and Conclusions

The crucial and indeed only question in this cese is
whether the waste o011, which Finch purchased on April 21, 1681,
contained PCBs at a concentration greater than 50 ppm. If it
did, Finch's purchase of that oil and his csubseqguent resale of
it was a distribution of PCBs in commerce in a non-totally
enclosed manner in violation of 40 CFR 761.20(c).2/ o¢n the
other hand, if the waste oil tontained less than 50 opm PCBs
at the time Finch purchased it, Finch would not have violated
the PCB rule.

Ccmplainant argues that even if the waste oil at the time
it was purchased by Finch contained less than 50 ppm PCBs,
Finch would still be in violation because dilution is expressly
prohibited by 40 CFR 761.1(b).§/ The prohibition against di-
lution was explained in the preamble to the PCB rule as intended

to prevent the deliberate dilution of concentrated PCBs to evade

2/ Finch does not question that his purchase of waste o0il
from Summit for resale to Meadowview Hospital was distribution
in commerce. In view of the broad definitions of the term
"commerce" and "distribution in commerce"™ in TSCA, Sections
3(3) and (4), 15 U.S.C. 2602 (3) and (4), it is understand-
able why he has not. It is also clear that transporting the
waste o011l by tank truck would not be a distribution in a
"totally enclosed manner" within the meaning of the PCB rule.
See 40 CFR 761.3(hh) and 761.20.

3/ Complainant's opening brief at 9, 21, 40 CFR 761.1(b)
provides in relevant part that, "[alny chemical substances

and combination of substances that contain less than 50 ppm
PCBs because of any dilution, shall be included as PCB and

PCBs unless otherwise specifically provided."

“



the nore stringent disposal requirements that apply to such
liguids.%/ Thus, the prohibition against dilution would secem
to apply to one who actually dilutes the PCBs, and to those
who act in concert with him for‘the purpose of evading the
more stringent disposal requirements. Heré there is no
evidence that Finch knew that the waste 0il in the tanks had
been testéd‘by the £PA previously and had bcen fOuhd to con-
tain PCBs in concentrations greater than 50 ppm.é/ Assuming
that Finch knew or should have known that some or all of the
waste o0il came from electrical transformers, it would have
been prudent if not obligatory fé} him to test what the PCB
concentration of the 0il was at the time, but testing would
not have disclosed whether 011 with high concentrations of
PCBs had been diluted by the addition of 0il with low concen-
tration of PCBs. In shoﬁt, Complainant's position would
require that liability be imposed on a distributor 1ike
Finch, even if he was blameless so far as diluting the o0il

was concerned, and had purchased the o0il in the good faith

4/ See 44 Fed. Reg. 31518, 31521.

5/ Nor would Finch have been any more knowledgeable about the
PCB content of Summit's oil, if he asked Mr. Brauer, the owner
of Summit. Mr. Brauer was not told by the EPA of the results
of the EPA's tests until May 15, more than three weeks after
Finch had purchased the oil. Tr. 12/ Brauer himself did not -
do any testing, and the last previous test of Summit's o0il
appears to have been one done by“the State of New Jersey in
January 1982. Brauer was never informed whether the test
disclosed any PCBs. Tr. 126.




belief, corroborated by his cwn test, that the o0il contained
lTess than 50 ppm PCBs. Since uncder such a rule the distributor
could never be sure that he was not distributing diluted waste
0il, the effect would be to discerage if not stop entirely
the distribution of all waste o0il recovered from electrical
transformers regardless of their PCB concentration, a result

+

which I find no support for either in the PC® rule or

+

the
preamble. To the contrary, the preamble to the PCB rule
expressly states that waste o0ils that contain concentrations
of PCBs less than 50 ppm may be used as fuel or, indesed, for
any purpose except as a sealant, cagting or dust control
agent.6/ Complainant's contention, therefore, that Finch
should be found in violation of the PCB rule no matter what the
concehtrations of the PCBs in the o0il he purchased is rejected.
While Finch's test of the Qaste 01l was not considered a reliable
indicator of the PCB content of the oil (see infra at 7-8), still
the record does not establish that Finch knew or should have known
that the waste o0il had been diluted.

For proof that the waste 0il contained over 50 ppm PCBs
when Finch purchased it, the EPA relies oﬁ the undisputed fact
that Finch was the only one who purchased waste oil from Summit
after the EPA's inspection of Summit on April 16, 1981. To

this, Finch offers the defense that Complainant has not shown

6/ See 44 Fed. Reg. 31525..




that the oil tested on A&pril 16, 13881, was the same 0il that
was purchased by Finch on April 21, 198]1.

One contention made by Finch-in its defense is that
Summit had only 700 gal]ons in its tenks when the EPA inspected
Summit on April 16th, while Finch took delivery of 2,600
gatlons, Bs Complainant points out, hcwaver, even if it be
assumed that the additional 1,900 gallons were free of PCBs,
the 0i1 would still contain 124 ppm PCBs .7/

A second contention wade by Finch is that he had taken
a sample of o0il purchased from Summit which was tested and
found to contain less than one ppm PCBs. If 1iabi1ity in this
case turned on which test was the more reliable indicator
of the PCB content of the o0il, the decision would clearly be
in favor of the EPA's test: The samples taken by the EPA were
collected in a special container, were c;refu11y marked, and
records were kept accounting for them from the time of coliection
to the time of testing.8/ The tests themselves can be assumed
to have been done in accordance with recognized procedures,

since there is nothing in the record to the contrary. In

7/ See Complainant's opening brief at 9. The formula used
to calculate the PCB content of the 2,600 gallons is as follows:
140(ppm) x 600(gal.) + 2,400(ppm) x 100(gal.)= 124 ppm (for the

2,600 (gal.) . 2,600 gal.)

8/ Tr. 24-25, 39-40, 47-48, 83-84; Government's Exhibits 1-5.




contrast, Finch took his sample in an ordinary jar, not for
the purpose of testing for PCBs but in order to determine
whether the 0il had dirt in it. His only record consisted
of wmarking the sample with a number - in the case of the o0i1l
purchased on April 21, it was number 5 - and also marking
the invoice for the purchase with the same sample number,

The sanples, ;11 of which were of waste oil purthasea from
Summit were then kept at Finch's house. He .had them tested
‘for PCBs after being visited by the EPA in September 1981.9/
While the tests themselves appear to have been done properly,
the procedures followed by Finch og}ered no reasonable assur-
ance either that the sample taken from one purchased quantity
of 011 could not have been confused with a seample from some

other purchased quantity, or that a sample could not have
been tampered with, ' -

Another reason for questioning the reliability of Finch's
test as an indication of the PCB content of the oil purchased
on April 21, is that to reach the level of less than one ppm,
Summit would have had to withdraw all 700 gallons of o0il in its
tanks between April 15 and April 21. According to Mr. Brauer's
testimony it is higly unlikely that o0il in such a large quantity

was withdrawn.lg/

9/ Tr. 131, 133, 140-41.

b 5

10/ Mr. Brauer indicated that he may have withdrawn 50 to 60
gallons for his own use, and that he may have given away one or
more 55 gallon drums. Tr. 115, 117, 119-120.




A third contention made by Finch, cannot so readily be
dismissed. This is that Complzinant has not really established
what the concentration of PCBs was in the waste 01l purchased by
Finch because of the testimony by‘Ju1ius Srauer, the cwner of
Summit, that during the period between April 15 and April 21,
1981, he may have used 50-60 gallons of waste o0il for his outdoor
heaters, and ;ay have given away 55 gallons or more of waste o0il,
to people to whom he had regularly been giving waste 0il for use
as fuel. According to this evidence, a sufficient gquantity of
waste 011 could have been withdrawn from the tank with the
0il containing 2,400 ppm PCBs, to bring the level of concen-
tration below 50 ppm PCBs, and Complainant's assumption that
the violation would be established aven if the other 1,900
gallons were free of PCBs would not hold up.11/

Complainant argues that Brauer's testimony is too specu-
lative to be given any weight. Brauer testified on the basis
of his recollection of what may have occured 18 months pre-
viously and produced no written records. Yet, the testimony

cannot be wholly discredited, which is what Complainant would

1/
~ Dr. Gervitz did testify that it was impossible to drain a tank
completely. Nevertheless, it would be necessary to assume that
about 20 gallons remained in the tank with the 0il containing 2,400
~ppm PCBs in order to bring the lTevel of concentration of the 2,600
gallons to 50 ppm. Tr. 54. There is simply no basis for making
‘that asumption on this record. For example, if all but 15 of the
100 gallons containing 2,400 ppm PCBs were 'withdrawn, the
concentration of the 2,600 gallons would be 46 ppm. Using
Complainant's formula (supra at 7 n. 9), the calculation

would be as follows:

2,400 (ppm) x 15 (gal.) + 140(ppm) x 600(gal) = 46(ppm)

2,600 gal.
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like to do. It is not surprising that Braver kept no written
records of the relatively small quantities of waste 0il he used

himself or gave away to others, Nor, contrary to what Complainant

Vgl

argues, was Brauer's relationship to Finch such as to make it likely
that it was in Brauer's self-interest to testify in favor of Finch.
Finch has been only an occasional purchaser from Brauer.12/
Complainant argues that Finch could assert a claim against Brauer
if Finch is found liable and a penalty is assessed.13/ For all
that appears in thé record, however, Finch may have purchased from
Summit at his own risk. Complainant, certainly, has furnished no
evidence as to the terms of sale to show the contrary, nor has he
explained what the legal basis for Brauer's liability would
be. In short, there is nothing in this record or Brauer's
testimony to indicate that-Mr. Brauer was not giving his
honest recollection of what may have happened to some of the
waste 0il sampled by the EPA.

It is, of course, true that Brauer did not unequivocally
state that waste o0il was in fact withdrawn from his tanks and
only gave rough estimates of the quantities that he was likely
to have used or given away. If the testimony is subject to
several different inferences; however, all of which appear to
be equa]]j possible, the conseqﬁences must be borne by

Complainant and not by Reépondent. Complainant's case rests
&

12/ Tr. 128, 153-56. Finch's normal sources of 91] were the

major oil companies. Tr. 130. ;
, ]
!

13/ Complainant's rep]y'Brief at 4.




11

on 1ts establishing by the preponderance of evidence that
Finch's distribution of PCBs violated the PCB rule.14/ Finch
being the only purchaser from Summit does make a prima facie
case in that the reascrable inference.to be drawn is that

the 700.gallons sampféd by the EPA on April 15, were included
in the 2,500 gallons pufchased by Finch on April 21. The
vurden which shifts to Finch by the prima facfe case, however,
is the burden of coming forward with some credible evidence

to redbut this inference. The burden of persuasion does not
shift merely because Complainant _for its case-in-chief has
produced enough evidence to Justify a finding in its favor,

if the evidence is left unexplained or unrebutted. Once

Finch has come forward with rebutting evidence the entire
record must be evaluated to determine whether Complainant has
established by the preponderance of the evidence that Finch
distributed 01l containing PCBs at a concentration greater than
50 ppm.15/ Here, Brauer's testimony has created too many gaps
between the EPA's inspection of Summit on April 15, and
Finch's purchase on April 21, to draw the conclusion that Finch
had purchased o011 containing PCBs in excess of 50 ppm. I
find, therefore, that Complainant has not sustained its

burden and that the complaint should be dismissed.

14/ “See 40 CFR 22.24. ' ‘

LY
-

15/ Complainant argues thatAit muét prevail unless Finch shows

that all 700 gallons of waste o0il were no longer in the tanks on
April 21." Complainant's opening brief at 13-14. This is
apparently based on its argument that even if the 2,600 gallons
contained less than 50 ppm PCBs, Finch would still be in violation
because of the prohibition against dilution, which argument has
been rejected. Supra at 6. - '




It is hereby ordered that the complaint in this proceeding

be dismissed.

Gerald Harwood,
Administrative Law Judge

July 18, 1983

I

20/ Unless an appeal is taken pursuant to 40 CFR 22.30 or the
Administrator elects to review this decision on his own motion,
the Initial Decision shall become the final order of the Admin-

istrator. See 40 CFR 22.27(c).




